RECEIVED

Apr 21 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Edward R. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000144
Case No. 2022-CP-23-03356

Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

LyonJay and the Greenville County Planning Commission,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Michael G. Martinez, Esq.
S.C. ENVIRONMENTAL LAW PROJECT
480 Conestee Road
Greenville, SC 29607
Telephone: (843) 527-0078
Mike@scelp.org

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court fail to apply the correct standard of review when it concluded that the Greenville County Planning Commission did not abuse its discretion in approving a subdivision preliminary plan that incorporated a wetlands delineation conducted under the wrong legal standard and that failed to include the required riparian buffers?
2. Did the Circuit Court fail to apply the correct standard of review when it concluded that the Greenville County Planning Commission did not abuse its discretion in approving a subdivision preliminary plan despite incorporating a traffic impact study that violated the Greenville County Land Development Regulations?
3. Did the Circuit Court err in concluding that the Greenville County Planning Commission did not violate Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc.'s due process rights when it considered and approved the subdivision preliminary plan even though LyonJay repeatedly submitted revised plans beyond the set deadlines, and these revised plans were unavailable to the public in a timely manner?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal centers on the approval of a residential subdivision in Greenville County, South Carolina. Respondent LyonJay submitted a subdivision preliminary plan¹ on April 5, 2022, requesting approval from Respondent Greenville County Planning Commission (Planning Commission). (*River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated April 5, 2022). During a regularly scheduled public meeting held on May 25, 2022, the Planning Commission considered and approved a revised preliminary plan submitted by LyonJay on May 22, 2022. (*Greenville Cnty. Planning Comm'n May 25, 2022 Meeting Minutes* at 1, 11-13; *River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022).

After the Planning Commission approved the preliminary plan, Appellant Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. (CQRL) filed an appeal of the decision to the Circuit Court on June 24, 2022. (*Id.*; *CQRL Notice of Appeal and Appeal*). Following briefing and a hearing on September 23, 2022, the Circuit Court issued its Order on November 4, 2022, affirming the decision of the Planning Commission to approve the subdivision preliminary plan. (*Id.*; *September 23, 2022 Hearing Transcript; Order*).

On November 10, 2022, CQRL filed a motion to reconsider. (*CQRL Motion to Reconsider* at 2-10). The Circuit Court denied the motion to reconsider in a Form 4 Order on January 18, 2023. (*Form 4 Order*).

CQRL filed and served this Notice of Appeal on January 30, 2023.

¹ The documents interchangeably refer to preliminary plan and plat.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate courts will reverse decisions of a planning commission when it abuses its discretion. *Gurganious v. City of Beaufort*, 317 S.C. 481, 485, 454 S.E.2d 912, 915 (Ct. App. 1995). “An abuse of discretion occurs when [a decision] is based upon an error of law” *Id.* (quoting *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987)). “Issues involving the construction of an ordinance are reviewed as a matter of law under a broader standard of review than is applied in reviewing issues of fact.” *Mikell v. City of Charleston*, 386 S.C. 153, 158, 687 S.E.2d 326, 329 (2009); *cf. Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm’n*, 376 S.C. 165, 173-74, 656 S.E.2d 346, 351 (2008) (noting “*findings of fact* by the [planning commission] must be treated in the same manner as a finding of fact by a jury,” which “will not be disturbed unless there is no evidence which reasonably supports the jury’s findings” (emphasis added)).

“An issue regarding statutory interpretation is a question of law.” *City of Rock Hill v. Harris*, 391 S.C. 149, 152, 705 S.E.2d 53, 54 (2011). “[I]n the area of statutory construction, [the court’s] role is limited to determining legislative intent and effectuating that intent.” *Eagle Container Co. v. Cnty. of Newberry*, 379 S.C. 546, 570, 666 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2008). “The determination of legislative intent is a matter of law.” *Id.* at 568, 666 S.E.2d at 894.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

River Preserve is a proposed subdivision designed by LyonJay to be located in the southern rural portion of Greenville County. (*Greenville Cnty. Planning Comm'n May 25, 2022 Meeting Minutes* at 11-12; *River Preserve Preliminary Subdivision Data Sheet*; *River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022). The River Preserve preliminary plan contemplates the subdivision and development of a set of unzoned parcels comprising approximately 220 acres into a residential neighborhood containing 210 single-family residences. (*Greenville Cnty. Planning Comm'n May 25, 2022 Meeting Minutes* at 11-12; *River Preserve Preliminary Subdivision Data Sheet*). The Reedy River and Woodside Creek² form a significant portion of the boundary for the proposed site. (*River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022).

Subdivision preliminary plans must be approved by the Greenville County Planning Commission pursuant to the Greenville County Land Development Regulations (LDR). *See* LDR, Article 3; Article 22; Article 9.³ The specific design of the River Preserve preliminary plan changed several times after its initial submittal on April 5, 2022, with resubmissions on April 25, 2022, May 11, 2022, and May 22, 2022. (*River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022). The LDR envision changes to the proposed preliminary plan and re-submittals as local and state officials provide feedback on the plan only “during an identified revision period” prior to the ultimate consideration by the Planning Commission. *See* LDR, Article 3.3.3.

² The approved preliminary plan references Woodside Creek, but the wetlands delineation identifies this waterway as Flat Rock Creek. The particular name is unimportant for purposes of this appeal, but for clarity, this brief will refer to it as Woodside Creek. (*River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022; *LyonJay Wetlands Delineation* at 10).

³ Greenville County has since amended its Land Development Regulations. To ensure this Court has the version effective at the time the Planning Commission approved River Preserve, CQRL intends to designate a copy of the regulations for inclusion in the record on appeal.

Implementing this procedure, Greenville County created and published a 2022 Subdivision Review Calendar, which set forth the identified revision period and key deadlines for submission and consideration of proposed preliminary plans. (*Subdivision Review Calendar*). The calendar indicated that applications submitted by April 6, 2022 would be heard at the ultimate Planning Commission meeting on May 25, 2022. (*Id.*). Prior to the final meeting, the calendar reflected that a proposed preliminary plan would have a Subdivision Advisory Committee⁴ meeting on April 18, 2022, allowing an applicant eight days to address the committee's comments and revise the plan prior to an applicant resubmittal deadline on April 26, 2022. (*Id.*). Despite this unequivocal deadline and "identified revision period," LyonJay submitted revised plans on May 11, 2022 and May 22, 2022, as late as a mere three days before the Planning Commission meeting. (*River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022; *See LDR*, Article 3.3.3). The Planning Commission did not adjust the hearing and instead considered River Preserve during the scheduled May 25, 2022 meeting. (*Greenville Cnty. Planning Comm'n May 25, 2022 Meeting Minutes* at 11-13).

The April 5, 2022 preliminary plan indicated a traffic impact study (TIS) had been completed and asserted that River Preserve would "adhere to the recommendations on the [TIS]." (*River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated April 5, 2022, n.17). Following comments from the county traffic engineer during the Subdivision Advisory Committee meeting instructing LyonJay to incorporate a 5-8% growth rate and two other recently approved subdivisions, a revised TIS was completed utilizing a 5% growth rate. (*Subdivision Advisory Committee Letter of Transmittal* at 3 n.i-ii; *Traffic Impact Study* at 12). However, a more significant problem with

⁴ *See LDR*, Article 3.3.3 (stating the Subdivision Advisory Committee reviews and submits comments on preliminary plans prior to Planning Commission consideration).

the TIS remained: inclusion of two nonexistent intersections in the analysis of the effect River Preserve will have on *existing roads*. (*Traffic Impact Study* at 2, 8-10, 12-13). Specifically, the development of River Preserve will require the construction of two access roads: Agate Road and Schist Avenue. (*River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022). The construction of these two roads will create two brand new intersections: the intersection of Agate Road and Woodside Road and the intersection of Schist Avenue and Wasson Way. (*River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022). At the time the Planning Commission considered River Preserve, these two intersections did not exist and will not exist until the construction of the development. (*River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022). Despite this problem, the TIS used these two nonexistent intersections to analyze the impact the River Preserve development would have on existing roads. (*Traffic Impact Study* at 12-14).

Finally, the ultimately-approved preliminary plan submitted three days before the Planning Commission meeting reflected the most substantial change of any revision: the elimination of several waterways from the preliminary plan and their requisite buffers based on a belatedly-submitted request for jurisdictional determination by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, which LyonJay referred to as a “wetlands delineation.” (*LyonJay Wetlands Delineation; River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022; *River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated April 5, 2022). The notes contained on the April 5, 2022 preliminary plan indicated that “there are 7 possible blue line streams located on site” and that “a wetlands delineation will be completed to located [sic] areas of concern.” (*River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated April 5, 2022 n.16). This wetlands delineation utilized a standard for federal jurisdiction over waterways: the presence of *waters of the United States*, even though the LDR—the regulations applicable to preliminary plan approval—require delineation of *waters of the State*. (*LyonJay Wetlands*

Delineation; LDR, Article 22.3.5(E)). Using this incorrect standard, the wetlands delineation concluded that the “3 clouded areas [reflecting several of the referenced blue line streams] do not exist” but is devoid of any factual assertions or evidence to support the conclusion. (*LyonJay Wetlands Delineation* at 9). The wetlands delineation cites to data points and three photos of an “upland,” but the “upland” is not located within any of the “3 clouded areas.” (*Id.* at 9, 12-19). Despite space to do so, the data form supporting this determination lacks any written remarks that elaborate on the basis for the conclusion that several waterways have disappeared. (*Id.* at 14-19). Finally, the wetlands delineation does not make a single reference to the correct standard, waters of the State. (*Id.* at 1-19).

On May 25, 2022, the Planning Commission considered and approved the River Preserve preliminary plan. (*Greenville Cnty. Planning Comm’n May 25, 2022 Meeting Minutes* at 11-13; *River Preserve Preliminary Plat*, dated May 22, 2022). CQRL filed its notice of appeal in the Circuit Court on June 24, 2022. (*CQRL Notice of Appeal and Appeal*). There, CQRL contended that the Court should reverse the approval of the River Preserve preliminary plan because (1) the preliminary plan failed to comply with waterway and wetlands delineation requirements contained in the LDR, (2) the preliminary plan failed to comply with riparian buffer requirements in the LDR, (3) the TIS conducted for the subdivision violated LDR requirements, and (4) the approval process violated CQRL’s due process rights. *Id.* CQRL submitted a brief in support of these arguments on September 7, 2022. (*Id.*; *CQRL Final Appellate Brief*).

The Circuit Court heard appellate arguments on September 23, 2022, and issued its Order affirming the Planning Commission’s approval of River Preserve on November 4, 2022. (*September 23, 2022 Hearing Transcript; Order*). In its Order, the Circuit Court applied the “any evidence” standard to hold that evidence in the record supported the Planning Commission’s

approval of the subdivision preliminary plan incorporating the wetlands delineation and the TIS.

(*Order* at 3-5). Specifically, the Court concluded:

CQRL asks this Court to substitute its opinion for that of the Planning Commission by asking this Court to weigh the sufficiency and adequacy of evidence available in the record. However, this Court does not engage in a *de novo* review. The Planning Commission's consideration of the wetlands delineation and the traffic impact study is neither fatal to the decision for approval nor warrants reversal. As with any evidence offered, debate may be taken on a document's content and opinions presented for and against the document. Evidence in the record shows that CQRL presented similar arguments before the Planning Commission as it does now before this Court. However, arguments on the sufficiency or adequacy of evidence are still arguments regarding evidence considered by the Planning Commission. CQRL's opposite viewpoint to that evidence does not constitute an error of law in the Planning Commission's consideration and determination of that evidence.

...

The applicable standard of review for this appeal mandates that this Court constrain itself to the determination of whether there was any evidence to support the Planning Commission's decision. The evidence in the record shows that the Planning Commission and planning staff considered hundreds of pages of documents including the challenged waterway delineation and traffic impact study.

...

The fact that this 'consideration' did not culminate in the result sought by CQRL does not advance its position on appeal. CQRL fails to show the Planning Commission's decision was arbitrary, capricious, had no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose, nor that the Planning Commission abused its discretion. In view of this Court's deferential standard of review, CQRL's argument must fail.

(*Id.*). In addition, the Circuit Court found the Planning Commission did not violate CQRL's due process rights. (*Id.* at 5-8). Specifically, the Circuit Court concluded:

LyonJay's plans were a matter of public record, available for review and inspection, prior to the May 25, 2022, public hearing. CQRL had the opportunity and used the opportunity to oppose the

preliminary plan prior to the hearing during the public comment stage and then again at the public hearing. At the hearing, the preliminary plan was extensively debated, questioned, and CQRL members appeared and presented their respective positions.

...

The contents of [subdivision application] files are available to the public from the opening of the file. The County Subdivision Administrator and her staff maintain and update these files as public records, which any citizen can view at County Square during the County's normal operating hours. As the application progresses, developers file multiple versions of preliminary plans as they make small changes to address concerns raised by Planning Commission staff and the Subdivision Advisory Committee. These changes and updated versions are kept in the physical file and are available for review.

...

Evidence [in] the record shows that CQRL had opportunity to voice its concerns through document submittal and public debate. CQRL received notice and engaged in the opportunity to publicly express its position prior to the Planning Commission's final decision, thus satisfying the requirements of due process.

(Id.). As a result of these findings, the Circuit Court affirmed the decision of the Planning Commission to approve the River Preserve preliminary plan and denied CQRL's appeal. *(Id.* at 8-9).

On November 10, 2022, CQRL filed a motion to reconsider, asserting that the Circuit Court (1) erroneously applied the "any evidence" standard because the standard governs only factual findings of the Planning Commission and not errors of law, and (2) overlooked significantly distinguishable circumstances from the decisions on which it heavily based its due process ruling. *(CQRL Motion to Reconsider* at 2-13). The Circuit Court denied the motion to reconsider in a Form 4 Order on January 18, 2023, "find[ing] there is nothing in [the motion] that would require reconsideration." *(Form 4 Order* at 1). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court erred in applying the “any evidence” standard when the Planning Commission committed an error of law by approving the River Preserve preliminary plan that ignored the legal requirements contained in the Greenville County Land Development Regulations.

The Greenville County LDR establish legal requirements for the delineation of water features on subdivision preliminary plans and for conducting traffic impact studies for proposed subdivision developments. LyonJay’s preliminary plan application for River Preserve ignored these legal requirements, and the Planning Commission’s approval of River Preserve therefore violated the LDR and constituted an error of law. Despite the violation of these legal requirements and the Planning Commission’s error of law, the Circuit Court applied the “any evidence” standard to the entirety of the Planning Commission’s decision. (*See Order* at 3-5). However, decisions of a local board or commission are not subject solely to the “any evidence” standard. *Historic Charleston Found. v. Krawcheck*, 313 S.C. 500, 506, 443 S.E.2d 401, 405 (Ct. App. 1994). Instead, this Court will reverse if the “Board’s findings of fact have no evidentiary support *or the Board commits an error of law.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The wetlands delineation and TIS issues CQRL raised in its first appeal required the Circuit Court to construe the language of the ordinance—a matter of law. (*CQRL Notice of Appeal and Appeal* at 5-16; *CQRL Final Appellate Brief* at 6-16); *see City of Rock Hill v. Harris*, 391 S.C. 149, 152, 705 S.E.2d 53, 54 (2011) (“An issue regarding statutory interpretation is a question of law.”); *Charleston Cnty. Parks & Recreation Comm’n v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995) (“The determination of legislative intent is a matter of law.”); *Georgia-Carolina Bail Bonds, Inc. v. Cnty. of Aiken*, 354 S.C. 18, 23, 579 S.E.2d 334, 336 (Ct. App. 2003) (“The legislature’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute.”). CQRL’s arguments accordingly challenge not the sufficiency of the evidence but

the preliminary plan's failure to comply with the LDR's legal requirements for wetlands delineation and TIS. (*CQRL Notice of Appeal and Appeal* at 5-16; *CQRL Final Appellate Brief* at 6-16; *Transcript*, p.32, l. 14-24; *CQRL Motion to Reconsider* at 2-10).

Instead of addressing the language of the ordinance at issue here and the legal requirements implicated, the Circuit Court simply applied the "any evidence" standard. (*Order* at 3-5). The Circuit Court explained:

CQRL asks this Court to substitute its opinion for that of the Planning Commission by asking this Court to weigh the sufficiency and adequacy of evidence available in the record. However, this Court does not engage in a *de novo* review. The Planning Commission's consideration of the wetlands delineation and the traffic impact study is neither fatal to the decision for approval nor warrants reversal. As with any evidence offered, debate may be taken on a document's content and opinions presented for and against the document. Evidence in the record shows that CQRL presented similar arguments before the Planning Commission as it does now before this Court. However, arguments on the sufficiency or adequacy of evidence are still arguments regarding evidence considered by the Planning Commission. CQRL's opposite viewpoint to that evidence does not constitute an error of law in the Planning Commission's consideration and determination of that evidence.

...

The applicable standard of review for this appeal mandates that this Court constrain itself to the determination of whether there was any evidence to support the Planning Commission's decision. The evidence in the record shows that Planning Commission and planning staff considered hundreds of pages of documents including the challenged waterway delineation and traffic impact study.

...

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