RECEIVED

Aug 04 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-CP-23-03356 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 30, 2023)
Appellate Case No. 2023-000144

Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc.,Appellant,

v.

LyonJay and the Greenville County Planning Commission,Respondents.

RESPONDENT LYONJAY'S AMENDED FINAL BRIEF

Dated: August 4, 2023

Greenville, South Carolina

FOX ROTHSCHILD LLP

/s/William A. Neinast

William Swent, S.C. Bar No. 13519

R. Taylor Speer, S.C. Bar No. 100455

William A. Neinast, S.C. Bar No. 104218

2 W. Washington Street

Suite 1100

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

⁹Appellant further claims that “. . .the Circuit Court never referenced or analyzed the LDR’s language establishing the requirements for TIS.” *Appellant’s Initial Br.* at 29. Appellant put forth significant oral argument regarding this language at the hearing, and the Nov. 4, 2022 Order included the following: “CQRL also asserts the traffic impact study in the record failed to properly evaluate the effect of the proposed subdivision on existing roads pursuant to Article 9 of the LDR.” *See, e.g., Transcript* at 38:13 – 39:18.

¹⁰ *See* R. pp. 357 – 486. Appellant also implies in its Initial Brief that the TIS failed to consider “existing” and “no build” traffic conditions, as the LDR requires. *See* Art. 9.2(A), LDR. This is not factually correct. In reality, the TIS considered “existing” and “no build” traffic conditions for both Woodside Road and Wasson Way, the only two nearby roads: “Using the existing, no-build, and build traffic volumes, intersection analyses were conducted for the study intersections under Existing (2022) conditions, No-Build (2027) conditions, and Build (2027) conditions.” *April 26, 2022 Traffic Impact Study Submission* at 11 (R. p. 432) (capitalization in original). It is unclear how the TIS could have incorporated present traffic volume data from intersections which do not presently exist, as Appellant suggests is necessary.

property boundary), but deferred to the South Carolina Department of Transportation (SCDOT) because S.C. Highway 418 is a State road (R. p. 527)

This action was squarely within the discretion that the unambiguous language of the LDR affords. Appellant's arguments that the TIS was legally defective because it reflected the Greenville County Traffic Engineer's discretionary selection of intersections is again nothing more than an effort by CQRL to elevate its subjective determinations over those of GCPC. An exercise of discretion that the LDR explicitly confers is not error of law or fact.

II. APPELLANT RECEIVED MORE THAN ADEQUATE DUE PROCESS THROUGHOUT THE PLAN SUBMISSION PROCESS.

As the Circuit Court correctly concluded, Appellant's argument that it did not receive adequate due process is wholly "unsupported by law." *Nov. 4, 2022 Order* at 9 (R. p. 12). "Procedural due process imposes constraints on governmental decisions which deprive individuals of liberty or property interests within the meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth or Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution." *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm'n*, 376 S.C. 165, 173, 656 S.E.2d 346, 351 (2008) } 376 S.C. at 171, 656 S.E.2d at 350. "The fundamental requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review." *Id.* } However, no particular procedure is required, as "[d]ue process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands." *Id.* } 376 S.C. at 172, 656 S.E.2d at 350; *see also SCDSS v. Wilson*, 352 S.C. 445, 452, 574 S.E.2d 730, 733-34 (2002) } "SCDSS v. Wilson, 352 S.C. 445, 452, 574 S.E.2d 730, 733-34 (2002)" } ("The requirements in a particular case are dependent upon the

importance of the interest involved and the circumstances under which the deprivation may occur.”).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has concluded that the procedure that is due a subdivision applicant is different from and less formal than might be required in a traditional trial. *Kurschner*,{ TA \s "Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm'n, 376 S.C. 165, 173, 656 S.E.2d 346, 351 (2008)" } 376 S.C. at 171-173, 656 S.E.2d at 350. Due process requires only that an applicant receive notice and an opportunity to be heard at some point before the Commission makes a final decision, but not at each level of the subdivision decision process. *See Ross v. MUSC*, 328 S.C. 51, 68, 492 S.E.2d 62, 71 (1997){ TA \l "Ross v. MUSC, 328 S.C. 51, 68, 492 S.E.2d 62, 71 (1997)" \s "Ross v. MUSC, 328 S.C. 51, 68, 492 S.E.2d 62, 71 (1997)" \c 1 }; *see also Donadieu v. Morgan Cnty. Planning Comm'n*, 2016 W. Va. LEXIS 726, *15-16 W. Va. (2016){ TA \l "Donadieu v. Morgan Cnty. Planning Comm'n, 2016 W. Va. LEXIS 726, *15-16 W. Va. (2016)" \s "Donadieu v. Morgan Cnty. Planning Comm'n, 2016 W. Va. LEXIS 726, *15-16 W. Va. (2016)" \c 1 } (“With respect to documents that did exist in Planning Commission's files, petitioners appear to complain that the Planning Commission did not disclose those documents to them in advance of the public hearing. However, they misconstrue the nature of Planning Commission hearings; they are not akin to civil trials where parties are entitled to certain discovery disclosures. Rather, everything in the Planning Commission's file was available for public inspection, and as the Planning Commission noted, petitioners did not avail themselves of that access.”); *Board of Curators v. Horowitz*, 435 U.S. 78, 92, 98 S.Ct. 948, 956, 55 L.Ed.2d 124, 136 (1978){ TA \l "Board of Curators v. Horowitz, 435 U.S. 78, 92, 98 S.Ct. 948, 956, 55 L.Ed.2d 124, 136 (1978)" \s "Board of Curators v. Horowitz, 435 U.S. 78, 92, 98 S.Ct. 948, 956, 55 L.Ed.2d 124, 136 (1978)" \c 1 } (“An administrative agency's failure to follow its own rules and regulations does not create

a constitutional due process right on behalf of a party who suffers some wrong at the hands of the administrative body.”).

Here, Appellant claims that the GCPC allowed Respondent to submit revisions to the Plan in an “untimely” manner. Specifically, Appellant claims that the GCPC “improperly accepted revisions fifteen days and twenty-six days past the deadline for the applicant submittal deadline.” *Notice of Appeal from GCPC* at ¶ 96 (R. p. 33). Despite claiming that the GCPC and LyonJay (a private, nongovernmental entity) somehow violated Appellant’s due process rights, Appellant admits that it received notice of submissions of documentation in support of the Preliminary Plan, submitted written comments to the GCPC, and that several of its members were actually able to speak before the GCPC regarding River Preserve (R. pp. 20 –21; 92– 111). Appellant admits that these plan revisions were considered, reviewed, discussed, and accepted at the GCPC’s public meeting on May 25, 2022, which Appellant admits its “members” attended and were permitted to provide “comments.” *Notice of Appeal from GCPC* at ¶ 21 (R. pp. 20 – 21). Moreover, the LDR explicitly contemplates that an initial subdivision plan will be revised prior to the GCPC public hearing. LDR Art. 3.3.3{ TA \s "Greenville County Land Development Regulations (LDR)" } (“The Authorized Representative will ensure that all comments made at the Subdivision Advisory Committee meeting are fully addressed on the plan during an identified revision period. It is the revised plan that is submitted for the Planning Commission’s review and approval, hold or denial.”). Additionally, LDR Article 1.6.1{ TA \s "Greenville County Land Development Regulations (LDR)" } specifically empowers the GCPC to deviate from its subdivision review calendar if “agreed upon by both the applicant and the Commissioners.” There is no evidence in the record that LyonJay and the Commissioners disagreed on the deviations from the calendar here.

Notwithstanding the provision of this public forum and its participation within that forum, Appellant claims that it somehow suffered prejudice as a result of these allegedly “untimely” submissions. To establish a procedural due process claim, Appellant must prove that the alleged deprivation caused them substantial prejudice. *Tall Tower, Inc. v. S.C. Procurement Review Panel*, 294 S.C. 225, 233, 363 S.E.2d 683, 687 (1987) (TA \l "Tall Tower, Inc. v. S.C. Procurement Review Panel, 294 S.C. 225, 233, 363 S.E.2d 683, 687 (1987)" \s "Tall Tower, Inc. v. S.C. Procurement Review Panel, 294 S.C. 225, 233, 363 S.E.2d 683, 687 (1987)" \c 1 } (emphasis added). In its Initial Brief, Appellant misconstrues the burden: “Furthermore, the meeting minutes do not reflect that either of [Appellant’s members] commented on the effect of this late change *because* the submission a month after the deadline prevented their adequate notice and opportunity to meaningfully comment.” Appellant’s Initial Br. at 32. The operative question here is not whether Appellant’s members were able to comment, but whether they suffered substantial prejudice.¹¹ Appellant fails to identify exactly what this substantial prejudice was, any effect this prejudice had, what specific changes in the plan documents constituted prejudice, or how any such prejudice rose to the height of a due process violation. Indeed, a Mr. John Cook appears to have submitted a memorandum to the GCPC on Appellant’s behalf on May 20, 2022 which discusses in detail the very same alleged waterway impact that Appellant claims it was not able to review in time for the May 25, 2022 GCPC meeting (R. pp. 487 – 496). Likewise, Mr. Jim Moore, CQRL’s President, both emailed the GCPC expressing his thoughts prior to the May 25 meeting and spoke at the meeting himself (*id.*; *see also* R. pp. 103). Appellant has presented no factual material related to how an earlier submission would have changed those comments.

¹¹Further, Appellant provides no factual support or explanation for its contention that the submission date somehow prevented its members from commenting. Nor does Appellant claim that its members did not actually review the revised submission.

The record is clear: CQRL had full and fair opportunity to voice its concerns to the GCPC as a democratic body in a public forum. CQRL did so, received a result that it did not like, and now attempts to relitigate issues before this Court that the GCPC and the Circuit Court have already properly decided. CQRL properly received notice and had an opportunity to publicly speak prior to the GCPC's final decision – indeed, it did so. This satisfied the due process requirement. *See Ross*, { TA \s "Ross v. MUSC, 328 S.C. 51, 68, 492 S.E.2d 62, 71 (1997)" } 328 S.C. at 68, 492 S.E.2d at 71.

III. APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY ISSUES ON APPEAL FROM THE GREENVILLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION BELOW.

Based on the record before the Court, the inescapable conclusion is that Appellant failed to preserve any issues for appeal. Since the Circuit Court acted in an appellate capacity, as a matter of law the Court was required to refrain from considering issues that were not raised to and ruled upon by the Planning Commission:

[A] great number of reported cases in South Carolina for at least four generations, and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil procedure, have emphasized the importance and absolute necessity of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.

Elam v. SCDOT, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004){ TA \l "*Elam v. SCDOT*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004)" \s "*Elam v. SCDOT*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004)" \c 1 } (emphasis added); *see also Brick v. Richland Cnty. Plan. Comm'n*, No. 2014-000583, 2016 WL 3200138 at *1 (S.C. Ct. App. June 8, 2016) (unpub.){ TA \l "*Brick v. Richland Cnty. Plan. Comm'n*, No. 2014-000583, 2016 WL 3200138 at *1 (S.C. Ct. App. June 8, 2016) (unpub.)" \s "*Brick v. Richland Cnty. Plan. Comm'n*, No. 2014-000583, 2016 WL 3200138 at *1 (S.C. Ct. App. June 8, 2016) (unpub.)" \c 1 } (in planning commission appeal, “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon

by the trial [court] to be preserved for appellate review.”) (quoting *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998){ TA \l "*Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)" \s "*Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)" \c 1 }); *Rutter v. City of Columbia Design/Development Review Comm'n*, 2021 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 265, *5, 2021 WL 2701549 (Ct. App. 2021){ TA \l "*Rutter v. City of Columbia Design/Development Review Comm'n*, 2021 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 265, *5, 2021 WL 2701549 (Ct. App. 2021)" \s "*Rutter v. City of Columbia Design/Development Review Comm'n*, 2021 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 265, *5, 2021 WL 2701549 (Ct. App. 2021)" \c 1 } (finding error for a circuit court to consider a procedural due process issue in an appeal from an architectural review board decision when the appellant failed to object during the board hearing).

Here, despite Appellant’s numerous contentions that the GCPC acted unlawfully and violated Appellant’s due process rights during the process of approving the River Preserve Plan, Appellant has provided absolutely no factual basis supporting a conclusion that it actually raised, argued, and received decisions on any of these specific issues before the GCPC. Appellant has thinly pleaded that it “submitted written comments prior to the May 25, 2022 [GCPC] meeting,” and that some of its members “also spoke in opposition to the subdivision.” *Notice of Appeal from GCPC* at 4 - 5, ¶ 21 (R. pp. 18 – 21). Nowhere in its appeal has Appellant actually described the substance of such “comments” or “opposition,” who these “members” are, whether they were authorized to speak on Appellant’s behalf, or whether the GCPC ruled on any issues so raised. Vague “comments” and “opposition” do not amount to preservation of any issues on appeal. *See Elam*{ TA \s "*Elam v. SCDOT*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004)" }, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779-80; *see also Rockville Cars, LLC v. City of Rockville, Md.*, 891 F.3d 141, 149 (4th Cir. 2018){ TA \l "*Rockville Cars, LLC v. City of Rockville, Md.*, 891 F.3d 141, 149 (4th Cir.

2018)" \s "Rockville Cars, LLC v. City of Rockville, Md., 891 F.3d 141, 149 (4th Cir. 2018)" \c 1 }.

Appellant has cited to *Newton v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals for Beaufort Cnty.*, 396 S.C. 112, 117, 719 S.E.2d 282, 284 (Ct. App. 2011){ TA \l "*Newton v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals for Beaufort Cnty.*, 396 S.C. 112, 117, 719 S.E.2d 282, 284 (Ct. App. 2011)" \s "*Newton v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals for Beaufort Cnty.*, 396 S.C. 112, 117, 719 S.E.2d 282, 284 (Ct. App. 2011)" \c 1 } for the proposition that it merely needed to plead issues on appeal to the Circuit Court to preserve them. Appellant's reliance on *Newton* is misplaced, but more importantly misses the point. Respondent LyonJay has asserted a preservation issue based on the fact that the GCPC had no authority to deviate from Greenville County Land Development Regulations (the "LDR") as Appellant would require. Given the absence of the GCPC's ability to (1) depart from LDR procedural provisions, or (2) impose an LDR requirement for federal confirmation of wetlands delineation, there was no concomitant entitlement of the GCPC to rule on those issues. The right to amend the Greenville County LDR lies with the Greenville County Council alone. LDR Art. 1.1.{ TA \s "Greenville County Land Development Regulations (LDR)" } Hence, Appellant's appeal failed to state a claim upon which the Circuit Court or this Court could grant relief, insofar as it seeks relief in the form of this Court imposing requirements on the GCPC that the LDR do not.

As an elementary threshold matter, Appellant must put forth some evidence in the record that it objected below on the grounds it now raises on appeal. *E.g., Wilder Corp.*{ TA \s "*Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)" }, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733; *Rutter*{ TA \s "*Rutter v. City of Columbia Design/Development Review Comm'n*, 2021 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 265, *5, 2021 WL 2701549 (Ct. App. 2021)" }, 2021 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS

265, *5, 2021 WL 2701549 (Ct. App. 2021). Because Appellant has failed to put forth any such evidence, this Court should grant judgment in favor of Respondents and affirm the decision of the Circuit Court. *See Elam*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004), 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779-80.

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court committed no reversible error. The GCPC's approval decision bore sufficient evidentiary support, it made no errors of law (and, if it did, all such errors were harmless), and Appellant was afforded ample due process prior to the approval decision. Appellant's tactic of couching questions of evidentiary sufficiency as questions of law is unavailing, and should not persuade this Court to overlook the considerable degree of deference that our Legislature and Supreme Court have afforded county planning commissions to regulate their land as they see fit. On the foregoing grounds, Respondent LyonJay respectfully requests this Honorable Court affirm the decision of the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas to affirm the decision of the GCPC approving the River Preserve preliminary plan.